Filed 03-11-2024

FILED 03-11-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2023AP2055

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ANTHONY JOHN VALDEZ, Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Final Decision and Order Filed October 17, 2023, Denying Defendant-Appellant's Motion for Postconviction Relief, the Honorable_David Swanson Presiding, in Milwaukee Co. Cir. Ct. Case No. 21CF135

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

James A. Walrath State Bar No. 1012151 519 North 50th Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53208 (414) 202-2300 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Circuit Judge Borowski err by relying on fact information about crime rates and sentencing norms to reach his sentencing decision without notice to Valdez or his counsel that he would consider such data?

On postconviction motion Judge Swanson ruled (A. App. 106) that Judge Borowski was only "speaking anecdotally" based on his experiences in Milwaukee homicide courts.

2. Did Judge Borowski err by relying on aggravating information that was not relevant to a sentencing for vehicular homicide?

On postconviction motion Judge Swanson ruled (A. App. 106) that Judge Borowski instead relied on facts set forth in the criminal complaint and other factually similar cases before him.

3. Did Judge Borowski improperly rely on inaccurate information to skew the length and severity of Valdez's sentence?

On postconviction motion Judge Swanson ruled (A. App. 105) that Judge Borowski's sentencing decision was not skewed by reliance on an inaccurate sentencing norm because the sentencing outcome for Valdez was less than the maximum possible sentence and the ten-year years of confinement recommended by the prosecution.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant does not request oral argument because, consistent with Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.22(2)(b), the written arguments can fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of marginal value.

Publication is permitted under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.23.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 14, 2022, following pleas of guilty to two counts of homicide by negligent operation of a vehicle, 20-year-old Anthony Valdez was sentenced by Milwaukee County Circuit Court Judge David L. Borowski to two consecutive sentences that totaled eight years in prison as initial confinement. (R. 40, Judgment of Conviction).

Valdez filed a postconviction motion (R. 71) filed on January 30, 2023, which asserted that errors occurred at sentencing, and requested modification of sentence or resentencing. Following the submission of briefs, Judge Borowski was reassigned a different caseload. The postconviction motion then was denied in a written decision

filed by Circuit Judge David Swanson on November 3, 2023. (R. 103; A. App. 103-107).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The criminal complaint (R. 2) charged Anthony Valdez with two counts of

second-degree reckless homicide. The Court eventually accepted defendant's pleas to

reduced charges, based on the facts set forth in the complaint (R. 52; Transcript of Plea

Proceedings, August 19, 2021, at 15), which provided in part:

Complainant notes that on July 10, 2020 at approximately 8:52 PM, the Milwaukee Police department responded to multiple reports of a serious two vehicle accident at the intersection of 27th and Cleveland (the above mentioned address) in Milwaukee County, Wisconsin.

PO Bongard reports that he responded to that location and conducted a scene investigation. PO Bongard reports that he observed a 2010 white Infiniti, registered to the defendant, with severe front end damage. He also observed a 2009 red Dodge Journey, damaged almost beyond recognition and resting on it's driver side, wrapped around the post of an overhead traffic signal. PO Bongard reports that the Journey's driver, [...] had been extricated from the vehicle by the Milwaukee Fire Department but was deceased on scene. PO Bongard reports that the Journey's front seat passenger, [...] was also deceased on scene. Complainant has reviewed copies of the completed autopsy reports conducted in this case. Said reports reflect that Dr. Jacob Smith of the Milwaukee County Medical Examiner's Office conducted an autopsy of [the driver] and concluded he died due to multiple blunt force injuries and ruled his death an accident. Dr. Smith also conducted an autopsy of [the passenger] and concluded that she died due to multiple blunt force injuries and ruled her death an accident.

PO Bongard reports that blood was collected from the defendant at 9:35 PM on July 10th, 2020 and sent to the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory. PO Bongard reports that he eventually received results of that testing, conducted by toxicologist Leah Macans, which was positive for delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), a restricted controlled substance, at a level of 13 ug/L.

Det. Froilan Santiago reports that he responded to Froedtert Hospital and spoke with the defendant, Anthony Valdez. Det. Santiago reports that defendant Valdez admitted driving the Infiniti involved

in the crash and claimed he was fleeing a dark blue 4 door sedan, whose driver had pointed a gun at him approximately 2 intersections prior to the crash. Det. Michael Thomae reports that the defendant's passenger, MNS also stated that they were fleeing a confrontation with a dark blue Chevrolet Malibu whose driver had pointed a handgun at them.

PO Bongard reports that he located surveillance video which captured the crash. Said video shows the victim's Dodge Journey attempt to turn left from 27th Street onto W. Cleveland Avenue while the defendant's car is still several hundred feet north of the intersection and approaching. The Dodge Journey has cleared the left travel lane entirely and is partially through the right travel lane when the defendant's white Infiniti strikes it at a high rate of speed. The Dodge Journey is pushed into the air and into a large overhead traffic signal support with such force the van is wrapped around the support post. PO Bongard reports that 4.2 seconds after the impact, a grey sedan with no headlights travels through 27th Street at a high rate of speed.

PO Bongard reports that multiple analyses were done on said video, attempting to estimate the speed of the Infiniti based on its movement, and that both concluded that the Infiniti was travelling at a minimum of approximately 110 MPH as it approached the intersection. PO Bongard notes that he has been a Police Officer for 25 years, is currently assigned to the Crash Reconstruction Unit of the Milwaukee Police Department, and in the capacity has been responsible for visiting and documenting hundreds of accident scenes, often aided by video and the recovery of airbag crash modules documenting the exact speed of vehicles involved in crashes.

Based on that experience, and comparing it to the damage done to the vehicles involved as well as the videos of the crash, PO Bongard believes the above mentioned estimates of the defendant travelling at least 110 miles per hour are accurate.

At the time of the accident Mr. Valdez was 19 years-old and he had no criminal

history as an adult or as a juvenile.

There were three critical stages of proceedings before Judge Borowski: (1) a May

27, 2021, hearing (R. 47) where the parties advised the judge of the status of the plea

negotiations (hereinafter "pre-plea proceedings"); (2) an August 19, 2021, guilty plea

hearing (R. 52); and (3) the January 14, 2022 sentencing hearing (R. 55).

During pre-plea proceedings, the prosecution advised the Court, that there had been lengthy plea negotiations, and that it would agree to amend the original charges of two counts of second degree reckless homicide to two counts of homicide by negligent operation of a vehicle in return for the defendant's guilty pleas, while recommending a total maximum sentence of ten years confinement. (R. 47; Transcript of Adjourned Plea Hearing on May 27, 2021, at 3). The prosecution explained that it offered the amended charges because of certain mitigating factors: the defendant's quick acceptance of responsibility (Id.) and the corroborated fact that Valdez was "fleeing a man" who was chasing him in a car after confronting him at gunpoint at an intersection (Id. at 6-7).

During the same pre-plea proceedings, Judge Borowski stated that based on his "off-

the-record" discussion with counsel a ten-year prison time sentence was inappropriate.

I had a conversation with the lawyers off the record, and when I was discussing this with the lawyers off the record, . . . candidly, I expressed grave concern to both sides about the recommendation of ten years in custody for killing two people.

(Id. at 2).

At Valdez's sentencing hearing Judge Borowski described that off-the-record discussion as follows:

And I remember specifically the first time Mr. Schindhelm suggested this amendment. Candidly, I pitched a fit. . . . My initial reaction was I was so appalled that the State would consider this that I raked Mr. Schindhelm and your prior defense attorney over the coals, then I raked them back in the

other direction because *we have an epidemic of bad driving and people being killed on the roads* in utter carnage, and it's always the victim who is minding their own business that's killed.

(R. 55; Transcript of Sentencing Hearing on January 14, 2022, at 23) (Emphasis added).

At the earlier pre-plea proceedings, and after the off-the-record discussion, Judge

Borowski continued:

But this case has to be seen in light of the bigger picture. And Mr .Valdez, the defendant in this case, is charged with killing two people, driving - - to describe it as reckless is an understatement - at over 100 miles an hour on South 27th Street.

And in this case, the allegations are exceedingly reckless. The defendant was allegedly going, not 100, but 110 miles an hour.

(R. 47;Transcript of Adjourned Plea Hearing on May 27, 2021, at 5).

[M]aybe there's some way for either or both sides to change my mind, but at this point this does not strike me as appropriate. It does not strike me as in the interest of justice, and a recommendation of ten years for killing two people. . . .

(Id. at 6).

[B]asically, you have an allegation that may be corroborated by another car speeding through an intersection, but that doesn't excuse someone going 110 miles an hour, number one. . . . Again, not excusing going 110 miles an hour - - most cars can't even get to 110 miles an hour - - and again, killing two people.

(Id. at 8).

Also, during the pre-plea proceedings, Judge Borowski stated that he was relying

on the sentences he had imposed in other double-homicide-by-reckless-driving cases for

guidance:

Within the last two weeks I sentenced a woman to 15 years of initial confinement for driving recklessly and killing two people on South 27th Street.

(Id. at 4).

Most reckless driving cases over the years - - not all - - result in sentences of 15 years, 20 years of initial confinement, some that are higher than that.

(Id. at 5).

During the subsequent guilty plea proceedings, the prosecution stated: "As the court knows from our past discussions and from the complaint as stated, this is an extremely serious case where the defendant's car was traveling at an incredibly high rate of speed." (R. 52; Transcript of Plea Hearing on August 19, 2021, at 5). Nonetheless, the prosecution considered the facts of defendant's case to be "unique" (Id.) because "the defendant was fleeing from a man who may have had a gun in this case," and independent witnesses corroborated that defendant, while driving, had in fact been confronted by another driver who not only pointed a gun at him but was chasing him.

At the guilty plea proceedings, Judge Borowski again expressed his views on sentences that were imposed in other double-homicide-by-reckless-driving cases, which led him to state that he would be imposing a prison sentence:

[E]very case is different, every case has its own set of circumstances, every defendant is unique and has different circumstances, but as Mr. Schindhelm is certainly aware and Ms. Tate is probably aware, I mean you know in situations where two people are killed in a driving homicide, *I mean you're normally looking at a sentence in the 20 to 30-year range. Each case is different.* Again, you know, but I know myself those have been sentences that I've imposed in very, very similar cases

(Id. at 8.) (Emphasis added.)

Later, at the same guilty plea hearing Judge Borowski again advised Valdez that he would

be going to prison:

[T]he State is going to recommend 10 years of initial confinement. Your attorney is free to make an argument, but you need to understand, Mr. Valdez, that *this is a prison case*. *You're going to prison*; do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I mean there's no doubt about that. There were two people killed. *I'm sure Ms. Tate is not going to suggest anything less than some sort of a prison sentence.* Two people were killed in an extremely reckless situation; do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And I'm sure that's extremely uncomfortable for someone your age, but that is what it is; do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

(Id. at 13) (Emphasis added.)

Based on the pre-plea and plea proceedings, and the complaint, Judge Borowski

accepted defendant's guilty plea (Id. at 15):

Based on the stipulation, based on my reading of the complaint, based on what's been indicated in court by counsel and the defendant, I'm finding a factual basis exist for the charges of and pleas to two counts of homicide by negligent operation of a motor vehicle.

At the sentencing hearing on January 14, 2022, Judge Borowski acknowledged that

the general *Gallion¹* factors should be applied (Id. at 21). Even so, at one point, he railed

against the overall number of homicides of all types committed over the last two years ("we

¹ *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. These primary factors include the gravity of the offense, the character and rehabilitative needs of the defendant, and protection of the public. *State v. Naydihor*, 2004 WI 43, P78, 270 Wis. 2d 585, 678 N.W.2d 220.

¹¹

set an all-time high for homicides in Milwaukee.") (Id.). He also pointed to record-setting firearms offenses, deploring the number of "non-fatal shootings" (Id. at 22). He followed that assertion by pointing to the rise in automobile theft cases, noting that the "rate is three to four times what it was just a few years ago." (Id.). Then, after noting the estimated speed of defendant's car, he recalled the other double-vehicular-homicide cases in which he had imposed sentences:

You were going the State said 110. That would not surprise me at all. You must have maxed out your vehicle. It had to be at least a 100 miles an hour, maybe more than that.

(Id. at 23).

I remember some of them. There's one in my first stint in homicide where the defendant had stolen a car from a family member who is going 90 or a 100 miles an hour. . . . That defendant is serving 25 or 30 years in prison.

(Id. at 24).

Then there's the Ojeda case that Mr. Schindhelm refers to. . . . She's serving -- you can correct me if you remember, Mr. Schindhelm, I think it's 15 years in prison. It might be 20, but it was 15 or 20.

(Id. 24-25).

[T]he sentence I'm going to give you, even if it's the maximum is less than any sentence I've ever handed out for a double vehicular homicide. I had another case within the last year that occurred on about 51st and Center. That case was worse than yours because that defendant was already wanted for a homicide in North Dakota... That person is doing 25 years in prison and, if anything, that was light on my part.

(Id. at 25-26).

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

Two factors played a major role in Judge Borowski's sentencing decision: (1) his factual conclusion that there had been recent, unusually high incidences (i.e., "an epidemic") of fatal car crashes in Milwaukee, along with other criminal offenses; and (2) his factual conclusion that the sentencing "norm" for double vehicular homicide cases ranged either from 15 to 20 years, or from 20 to 30 years, initial confinement

Valdez, relying on *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d, had argued that Judge Borowski's sentencing decision was infused with unrelated, and irrelevant topics, and was based both on unreferenced facts and inaccurate facts. *Tiepelman* instructs that a defendant is entitled to resentencing if he/she meets a two-pronged test by showing that the information at the original sentencing was inaccurate and that the court actually relied on the inaccurate information at sentencing.

After considering Valdez's arguments and the State's Response (which was adopted and incorporated by reference), Judge Swanson's decision discussed the above-noted factors that appeared in Judge Borowski's sentencing decision. As to the first factor, Judge Swanson stated: "The court agrees with the State that Judge Borowski's initial concerns

were well-grounded given the widespread problems with dangerous driving in Milwaukee County and the aggravating facts set forth in the complaint." (A. App. 105).

As to the second factor, Judge Swanson ruled: "The court finds no support for the defendant's claims that Judge Borowski prematurely judged the sentence or that he had a "skewed perception of the sentencinsg norm," He also concluded: "The court is satisfied that Judge Borowski sentenced the defendant based on the unique set of facts and circumstances in this case, not based on any perception of sentencing norms in unrelated matters. . . ." (A. App. 106-107), and that "[t]he court is not persuaded that the surfacelevel CCAP data or criminal complaints in unrelated matters [submitted by the defendant to support his postconviction motion] demonstrate that the court relied on inaccurate information. Judge Borowski was speaking anecdotally based on his extensive experience in the homicide courts." (A. App. 106). Judge Swanson concluded: "The fact that Judge Borowski imposed a *lesser* sentence than the State recommended belies a finding of bias" 105), and that "Judge Borowski put aside his concerns and accepted the plea (A. App. agreement under the circumstance of this case demonstrates an *absence* of bias." (A. App. 105).

Anthony Valdez therefore seeks appellate review of the decision by Judge Swanson

and the underlying sentence by Judge Borowski.²

II. The circuit court erroneously sentenced Anthony Valdez to eight-years of confinement because it used an improper procedure and improper factors to determine the sentence.

A. Because Judge Borowski procedurally erred by relying on irrelevant data to reach his sentencing decision without notice to Valdez or his counsel that the judge would consider such information, Valdez was denied due process because the information could not be scrutinized or challenged.

Anthony Valdez's first objects to Judge Swanson's decision (and to the underlying

sentencing decision by Judge Borowski) based on procedural errors. For one, Judge

Borowski fueled his sentencing analysis with irrelevant facts that had nothing to do with

deterring vehicular homicides, the offense for which Valdez had been convicted.

² The standard of review for this case involves both appellate review of a discretionary sentencing decision and the less deferential appellate review of whether an error implicating due process of law occurred. "We review a sentencing decision to determine whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. A discretionary sentencing decision will be sustained if it is based upon the facts in the record and relies on the appropriate and applicable law. *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶16, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 152-53, 832 N.W.2d 491, 496. "Whether a defendant has been denied due process is a constitutional issue which this court decides independently of the circuit court or court of appeals, benefiting from the analysis of these courts." *Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶20, 347 Wis. 2d at 154, 832 N.W.2d at 497.

Valdez was not convicted of homicides involving shootings, or stabbings, or other intentional crimes, yet the judge factored in, or at least articulated his consideration of, what he perceived was a dramatic rise in all types of homicides ("we set an all-time high for homicides in Milwaukee."). Relevant data, for example in the FBI's Uniform Crime Report (UCR) statistics shows, however, that the vast bulk of homicides in the Milwaukee area during the years 2020 and 2021 (the years Judge Borowski referred to) resulted from intentional shootings, stabbings, beatings, abuse, and arson.³ But, had Valdez been given advance notice that Judge Borowski intended to consult and rely upon different data, he could have challenged the judge's purported logic. He was deprived of a process to do so.

Judge Borowski then went beyond homicides to focus on record-setting non-fatal firearms offenses, bemoaning the number of "non-fatal shootings" (Id. at 22). Obviously, that data had nothing to do with deterring vehicular homicides.

His data references then veered into his assessment of a rise in automobile theft cases, observing that the "rate is three to four times what it was just a few years ago." (Id.).

³ See, <u>Milwaukee Homicide Database | Journal Sentinel - jsonline.com</u> at https://projects.jsonle.com/apps/Milwaukee-Homicide Database/ (last accessed on March 4, 2024).

¹⁶

That was at least the third irrelevant category of data that Judge Borowski mentioned to inform his sentencing decision.

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