Filed 06-11-2024

Page 1 of 31

FILED 06-11-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

# DISTRICT I

#### Case No. 2023AP2055-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY JOHN VALDEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A SENTENCE AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID BOROWSKI AND DAVID C. SWANSON PRESIDING

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN D. FLYNN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1096413

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

Valdez's argument has shifted on appeal. For the first time on appeal, he claims that the circuit court sentenced him based on inaccurate crime statistics by including nonvehicular homicides in the homicide numbers. Further, Valdez muddles the two other issues: whether the circuit court had a pre-determined sentence in mind before even accepting the plea and whether the circuit court relied on inaccurate information about normal lengths of vehicular homicide cases when sentencing Valdez. (Valdez's Br. 20–32.) The State will address them separately.

This Court should affirm. Because Valdez raises his issue with the allegedly inaccurate crime numbers for the first time, this Court should decline to address it. But if this Court does address the argument, the record shows that the circuit court sentenced Valdez on the unique facts of this case, so it did not rely on any allegedly inaccurate numbers. Furthermore, the record demonstrates that the circuit court relied on appropriate factors and considered the facts of this case in arriving at a sentence less than the maximum and did not pre-determine the sentence.

# I. The circuit court did not sentence Valdez based on inaccurate information.

A. To warrant resentencing, the defendant must show that the circuit court actually relied on inaccurate information when imposing sentence.

"A defendant has a constitutionally protected due process right to be sentenced upon accurate information." *Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 9. It is "inconsistent with due process of law" under the Fourteenth Amendment for a defendant to be "sentenced on the basis of assumptions . . . which [are] materially untrue." *Townsend v. Burke*, 334 U.S. 736, 741 (1948).

When a defendant claims that he was sentenced based on inaccurate information, he bears the initial burden of proof. "The defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that: (1) some information at the original sentencing was inaccurate, and (2) the circuit court actually relied on the inaccurate information at sentencing." *Coffee*, 389 Wis. 2d 627, ¶ 38.

Inaccurate information refers to "misinformation of constitutional magnitude," *Roberts v. United States*, 445 U.S. 552, 556 (1980) (citation omitted), or "extensively and materially false" information, *Townsend*, 334 U.S. at 741. For a sentence to be constitutionally invalid because it is inconsistent with due process, a defendant must show that its foundation is "based upon materially untrue information" that is "extensively and materially false, which [the defendant] had no opportunity to correct." *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶¶ 17–18, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491.

The defendant must also prove that the sentencing court "actually relied" on the inaccurate information by examining the court's "articulation" of the basis for its sentence "to determine whether the court gave 'explicit attention" to it and whether it "formed part of the basis for the sentence." *State v. Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶ 25, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662 (citation omitted). To determine whether a court actually relied on inaccurate information at sentencing, this Court examines "the whole sentencing transcript." *Id.* ¶ 29.

- B. Valdez forfeited his right to bring a claim that the circuit court relied on inaccurate crime data.
  - 1. By not raising the issue of inaccurate crime data in his postconviction motion, Valdez has forfeited his right to raise the claim on appeal.

Valdez complains that the circuit court relied "on fact information about crime rates and sentencing norms to reach his sentencing decision without notice to Valdez." (Valdez Br. 4.) He argues that irrelevant information was used to aggravate his sentence and the lack of notice that the court would reference this information deprived him of due process. (Valdez's Br. 15–20.) However, Valdez did not make this argument in his postconviction motion. He did not challenge the crime rates as inaccurate or his lack of notice. Instead, his postconviction motion related only to the circuit court had predetermined that the sentence should be a long prison term and that the circuit court relied on inaccurate information when it considered the sentence length in other multiple homicide car cases. Therefore, this claim is being raised for the first time on appeal.

"Forfeiture occurs when a party fails to raise an objection." *State v. Mercado*, 2021 WI 2, ¶ 35, 395 Wis. 2d 296, 953 N.W.2d 337. "The purpose of the 'forfeiture' rule is to enable the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. Arguments raised for the first time on appeal are forfeited. *In re Guardianship of Willa L.*, 2011 WI App 160, ¶¶ 19–27, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155. The forfeiture rule focuses "on whether particular arguments have been preserved, not on whether general issues were raised before the circuit court." *Id.* ¶ 25.

"The purpose of the 'forfeiture' rule is to enable the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." *Ndina*, 315 Wis. 2d 653, ¶ 30. "The forfeiture rule also gives both parties and the circuit court notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection; encourages attorneys to diligently prepare for and conduct trials; and prevents attorneys from 'sandbagging' opposing counsel by failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal." *Id*.

This Court should deem this issue forfeited and not consider it. Valdez did not argue in postconviction that the crime rates cited at sentencing were inaccurate, so this Court is without the benefit of a postconviction decision on whether Valdez met his burden to show that they were inaccurate or actually relied on. *Coffee*, 389 Wis. 2d 627, ¶ 38.

# 2. In any event, Valdez cannot show that the circuit court relied on inaccurate crime data.

If this Court is going to review this claim, it should hold that the circuit court did not actually rely on these crime rates. For Valdez's other inaccurate information claim, the postconviction court found that the circuit court relied on the unique facts of this case and assessed them within the proper framework—the nature of the offense, Valdez's character, and the need to protect the public. (R. 103:5.) The primary factors the circuit court must consider at sentencing are "the gravity of the offense, the character of the offender, and the need to protect of the public." *Alexander*, 360 Wis. 2d 292, ¶ 22. The circuit court did just that.

In fashioning its sentence, the circuit court accepted Valdez's plausible version of events. (R. 55:26.) The circuit court credited Valdez for accepting responsibility by pleading guilty. (R. 55:29.) It noted "a limited criminal record." (R. 55:26.) But the prior speeding ticket also weighed against that. (R. 55:26.) It also noted Valdez had been released on bail and had received no violations during monitoring. (R. 55:27.) Finally, it pointed out that Valdez was young, just 19 years old at the plea. (R. 55:27.)

The circuit court turned to the gravity of the offense. (R. 55:29.) If found some mitigation: "how it occurred, and it being negligent and the issue with the other car." (R. 55:29.) Nonetheless, the court rated "the gravity on a scale of 1 to 10 is a 10. You killed two people." (R. 55:29.)

The record is clear that the circuit court did not rely on crime rates in fashioning Valdez's sentence. It went over the facts of this case and Valdez's personal history. It crafted a unique sentence based on this case, relying on the appropriate factors. Therefore, Valdez has not proven that the circuit court relied on inaccurate information. *Coffee*, 389 Wis. 2d 627, ¶ 38.

# C. Valdez did not demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the circuit court relied on inaccurate information about the length of vehicular homicide cases.

Valdez renews his argument that his exhibits demonstrate that "the [circuit] court's 'norm' was substantially off the mark."<sup>6</sup> (Valdez's Br. 25.) Valdez points

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As an initial matter, Valdez believes he "provided a compelling argument for sentence modification or resentencing." (Valdez's Br. 28.) They are conceptually different claims with different remedies for different reasons. *State v. Wood*, 2007 WI App 190, ¶ 9, 305 Wis. 2d 133, 738 N.W.2d 81. A court's reliance on inaccurate information at sentencing is not a "new factor." *Id.* ¶ 15. Each claim has a distinct test and remedy. Whether a circuit court relied on inaccurate information at sentencing. *Id.* By contrast, the new factor analysis invokes the sentencing court's inherent

to his review of reported cases, his affidavit of unreported cases, and a report from a data researcher. (Valdez's Br. 25–27.)

The postconviction court found that Valdez had not met his burden when he merely provided "surface-level CCAP data or criminal complaints in unrelated matters." (R. 103:4.) By referencing other cases, the circuit court was "speaking anecdotally based on his extensive experience in the homicide courts." (R. 103:4.) The court was satisfied that Valdez was sentenced "based on the *unique* set of facts and circumstances *in this case*, not based on any perception of sentencing norms in unrelated matters." (R. 103:5.)

As an initial matter, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has expressly endorsed sentencing courts "consider[ing] information about the distribution of sentences in cases similar to the case before it." *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 47, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. So, the circuit court was expressly allowed to consider similar cases. Yet Valdez cites no authority for the proposition that the court must balance that against other cases from other times in other counties. That means unless Valdez can prove the that the circuit court was materially inaccurate about the cases it referenced, he cannot prove his inaccurate information

authority to modify a sentence, and pertains only to information the court was not aware of at sentencing, that was highly relevant to the sentencing decision, and that the court deems sufficiently important to justify modifying the sentence. *Id.* ¶¶ 5, 9.

Because Valdez cites only to resentencing cases, his argument for sentence modification is undeveloped. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (stating that this Court does not develop arguments on a party's behalf and "may decline to review issues inadequately briefed"). The State will only address his argument that he was sentenced on inaccurate information, not whether he has demonstrated a new factor.

claim—other cases the court could have considered are simply irrelevant to this analysis. Because Valdez does not do that, this Court should affirm.

Valdez cites to two published cases for his argument. (Valdez's Br. 25.) The first, *State v. King*, 187 Wis. 2d 548, 523 N.W.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1994), is a negligent vehicular homicide case from Marathon County in 1994. The second is a 2006 case, *State v. Schutte*, 2006 WI App 135, 294 Wis. 2d 256, 720 N.W.2d 469, where the defendant was convicted of negligent vehicular homicide in Ashland County. *Schutte*, 294 Wis. 2d 256, ¶¶ 1, 8. These two cases are remote in time and location from Valdez's case; when considering the appropriate punishment for a double vehicular homicide in Milwaukee County in 2022, there is simply no authority that the circuit court had to consider these remote cases, or that presenting them now makes the court's recitation of similar cases it had before it inaccurate.

Furthermore, the conduct at issue in these cases differs greatly from Valdez's case. Valdez was charged with two reckless homicides and only resolved his case as homicides by negligent operation of a vehicle to avoid a trial. (R. 2:2; 47:3– 4.)

Valdez goes over three circuit court cases he included in his affidavit. (Valdez's Br. 26–27.) "In exercising discretion, sentencing courts must individualize the sentence to the defendant based on the facts of the case by identifying the most relevant factors and explaining how the sentence imposed furthers the sentencing objectives." *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 29, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409. Because we have no idea the personal circumstances of those defendants and we do not know the facts of those cases, they are irrelevant.

Finally, the data researcher's report is even less helpful. (Valdez's Br. 28.) By its very nature, aggregated data contains no information about the specific facts of the case, any aggravating or mitigating circumstances, or any other reasons how a sentence might have considered the protection of the public. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d at ¶ 43 n.11. With absolutely no information on how or why these cases might be comparable to Valdez's case, Valdez cannot demonstrate that failure to consider this information means the circuit court relied on inaccurate information.

Valdez cites to Travis, 347 Wis. 2d 142, to analogize to a circuit court's mistaken belief that a defendant was subject to a mandatory minimum, which was inaccurate information. (Valdez's Br. 29.) This analogy is misplaced. The circuit court stated multiple times that every case is different. (R. 47:10– 11.) It also recognized that Valdez's attorney would be free to make а sentencing recommendation. (R. 52:13.) At sentencing, it considered and referenced the PSI and sentencing counsel's argument. (R. 55:27-28.) It went over the *Gallion* factors and arrived at an individualized sentence. (R. 55:25–29.) Therefore, Valdez received the benefit of "a 'fair sentencing process' in which the sentencing 'court [went] through a rational procedure of selecting a sentence based on relevant considerations and accurate information." Travis, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 80 (citation omitted).

Valdez did not prove that the circuit court relied on inaccurate information. Valdez has not proven that the court recited any inaccurate information about the cases the circuit court described. And he has no authority for the proposition that the court was obligated to consider the cases or data he provided. The cases and data he cites lack sufficient meaningful detail to make them relevant consideration, so whether they would have altered the court's consideration of an appropriate is irrelevant. II. The record demonstrates that the circuit court did not prejudge the case with a sentence in mind.

Valdez argues that the circuit court "openly prejudged what type of sentence he would impose and stated on the record what the appropriate punishment should be." (Valdez's Br. 20.) He claimed the court had an "unalterable and unyielding commitment, on the record, that [it] would be imposing a long prison term." (Valdez's Br. 21.)

A criminal defendant has a due process right to an impartial judge. *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 8. However, "[t]here is a presumption that a judge is free of bias and prejudice," *State v. Jensen*, 2011 WI App 3, ¶ 95, 331 Wis. 2d 440, 794 N.W.2d 482, and an appellate court therefore assumes that "a judge has acted fairly, impartially, and without bias." *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 8. Thus, "[t]o overcome this presumption, the party asserting judicial bias must show that the judge is biased or prejudiced by a preponderance of the evidence." *State v. McBride*, 187 Wis. 2d 409, 415, 523 N.W.2d 106 (Ct. App. 1994).

There are two categories of judicial bias claims: subjective, which asks whether the judge has personal doubts about his or her own ability to be impartial; and objective, the claim at issue here. *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 8. Objective bias occurs either when there is an appearance of bias to a degree that the judge "could not be trusted to 'hold the balance nice, clear and true' under all the circumstances," or when objective facts show that the judge "in fact treated [the defendant] unfairly." *Id.* ¶ 9 (alteration in original) (citations omitted).

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